
Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

1

CARLIN CITY COUNCIL
CITY OF CARLIN, STATE OF NEVADA

REGULAR MEETING
CARLIN CITY HALL

101 SOUTH EIGHTH STREET
CARLIN, NEVADA

January 14, 2015, 7:00 p.m.

Call to Order and Roll Call:
Mayor Donnetta Skinner called the meeting of the City Council to order at 7:00 p.m.
Council Members Present:  Mayor Donnetta Skinner

Councilperson Bob DeMars
Councilperson Jay Duke
Councilperson Pam Griswold
Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield

                                    Absent: 
1. Administrative Staff:  City Manager David Jones , City C lerk LaDawn Lawson, Police Chief Bill 

Bauer, Dennis Fobes, Public Works Director Carlos Esparza
2. Present:  Karla Jones Rick Anderson, Roger Anderson, Aaron Martinez,  Jim Brown,  Tyler Thomas, 

Floyd Davey, Kathy Burney, Tom Burney, Cliff Eklund.

Pledge of Allegiance

I. Comment by the General Public: Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2C) this time is devoted to 
comments by the general public and discussion of those comments. No action may be taken 
upon a matter raised under this item until the matter has been included on a successive 
agenda and identified as an action item. (Non-Action Item)
1. County  Commissioner Cliff   Eklund   report ed there was a meeting about six (6 )months  ago with 

the Elko Police Department and the Sheriff’s Department to form a partnership with the school 
district in the towns to form a security force for the schools. He  explained  there are  now  five (5) 
police officers assigned to Elko, Carlin  and  Spring Creek , three from the Sheriff’s Department 
and two from Elko Police Department.  He explained what they encountered in the first three 
days on duty and noted they are going to put three more on for Jackpot, Wells and West 
Wendover.  He stated it is working and there will be an officer on site on a regular basis with a 
rotation schedule. 

2. Councilperson Jay Duke confirmed  they go into the classrooms and noted that Shawn 
Sherwood was the first one they sent and he was an officer and resident in Carlin at one time.

3. County Commissioner Cliff  Eklund  also reported he is sitting on a committee that will promote 
Elko County Frontier Days, including Wells, Carlin and Elko.  He noted they are doing 
research by looking at three current events in other states.  He stated the event would be held on 
the same weekend with all three participating.  He stated it will be marketed nationally 
supported by  the Chamber of Commerce, EVCA, Elko Business A ssociation ,  Western  Folklife 
Center, GBC, Northeastern Nevada Museum, California Trails Center, City of Wells and 
possibly the City of Carlin.  He stated he has invited City Manager David Jones to attend the 
next meeting, as well as Wren  Doxey  Vice Chairman of the Carlin Equestrian Committee .  He 
stated invitations are going to be sent to the Indian Colony and West Wendover.  He stated they 
are looking at showcasing primitive events and crafts.  He suggested that Carlin form a 
committee from all of the board and develop a cross section of the town.  He stated it will be a 
big event and take the whole town working together and tentative plans are a small event 2015 
as a test with a bigger event in 2016.  He stated there is advertising money put up for the event.  

4. Councilperson Pam Griswold inquired why Jackpot is not being included.



Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

2

5. County  Commissioner  Cliff   Eklund  explained th at it is not on Interstate 80 and Jackpot is not 
an incorporated town.  He stated any input would be greatly appreciated and the next meeting at 
the California Trails Center is January 20. 

6. Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner stated they had considered something like this when the Equestrian 
Park was first done, but it was too cumbersome and too expensive.  She stated this is a great 
opportunity to bring more people into Carlin.  

II. Review ,   d iscussion  and possible approval  of an extension of the submittal date for the Master 
Water and Master Sewer Plans for the Carlin Crossing Development ,   and all related matters .   
(Possible Action Item)
1. Aaron Martinez, AM Engineering   reported the development is asking for a 45-day extension on 

the water and sewer master plans.  He stated AM Engineering was asked to create this by 
January 3, which was a date established in the already accepted development agreement.  He 
stated they met that deadline and the Master Plan was submitted to the developer and City 
Engineer Tom Ballew.  He stated the developer elected to reevaluate their position as some of 
the findings in the report were a little outside of their expectations.  He stated there is an aspect 
of the existing municipal infrastructure and how that can be utilized.  He  stated the  developers 
need a little more time to evaluate and understand the impact, making sure the development is 
feasible.  He stated, “In the long history of this development, it has been very difficult to make 
it pencil, part of that is the topography and it is not just an area that you can mask and have a 
flat lot .  The design is now starting to make sense and can be built with  a profit margin at the 
end of the day.  They are asking for a 45-day extension to figure out a few more things”.

2. Councilperson Bob  DeMars  confirmed that Mr .  Martinez had until January 3 to come up the 
Master plan and give to the Hoses.  He inquired if they have had 12 days to look at this.  

3. Aaron Martinez noted, “No, because from the development side, we have been working hand 
and hand throughout this entire process.  One thing that is very critical to keep in mind is we 
have been waiting on particular  decisions to be made on behalf of the City of Carlin and  have 
been presented to council by Mr.  Tanguay , decisions have not been made frankly, so we have 
been waiting in limbo with anticipation of those decisions coming .   At the end of the day, that 
is the situation”.  He stated he is referencing the correspondence of our engineering report and 
that report clearly defined the domestic usage and the impact on the city.  He stated they had 
not received any comments or acceptance of that.  

4. Councilperson Bob DeMars inquired what he would expect on February 17.
5. Aaron Martinez stated that he is not the developer, but from an engineer’s perspective, from the 

development side, “We can probably expect a timeline for moving forward and what people 
would like to do”.  He stated “The developers are not skilled developers and the Nevada 
Administrative Code is very specific on how your water off - site, municipal construction is to 
be.  Not only do they have to build for the domestic usage of the development and another 75% 
for   emergency  storage and the developers did not quite understand that. That was the education 
process of me working with them to explain”.    He stated the most important thing was that we 
could not move forward with our total off - site analysis if we cannot  reach an  agreement for a 
domestic water usage. He stated, “The water report has yet to be accepted and why would they 
pay me to continue on with the item that is directly related to that and compounds that if we do 
not have a decision.  At the end of the day, I work off the numbers that are presented”.

6. Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner stated she has received emails from Paul  Tanguay  stating they have 
not received the information they needed”.  She noted the engineer has been sick and there have 
been a few things that have come up.  She noted when she called to check on it, she was told he 
was not in the office and would not be back for 2 weeks.  She stated she does not like and that 
they are behind.  

7. Aaron Martinez stated Mr. Ballew has been working with him on this and has met with him any 
time he has requested.  He stated the important thing is that the  official response is not there 
which is what is hanging this up.  



Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

3

8. Councilperson Pam Griswold stated she was called and did not have  a problem with the 
extension if the City Engineer is out sick.  

9. Aaron Martinez stated “If those numbers hold for 45 days, he is comfortable with it”.
10. Councilperson Pam Griswold noted that Mr. Tanguay agreed with the 45 days.
11. Councilperson Jay Duke stated it is not 45 days, it is 33.  He stated he does not think it will 

affect any of the other milestones and confirmed that Mr. Ballew understands he needs to do 
the report and if he can accomplish that by February 17.  

12. Aaron Martinez stated he has agreed with everything we have been doing and he has agreed 
upon those values and numbers.  

13. Councilperson Jay Duke   moved  for   approval  of an extension of the submittal date for the 
Master Water and Master Sewer Plans for the Carlin Crossing Development ,   and all 
related matters .   Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield   seconded  the motion.  The motion 
carried unanimously.

III. Review  and  discussion and possible  approval of  the final acceptance of the work performed 
by Ruby Dome Inc. on the Bulk Water Station located on Poplar Street in Carlin Nevada and 
release of the retainage in the amount of $3,368.84 ,  and all related matters .  (Possible Action 
Item)
1. City Manager David Jones  stated  they held back 10% of the contract and it is called the 

retainage fee .   He noted it also states in the contract that if there is any problem with this 
particular contract in the next year, that Ruby Dome Inc. would come back and make the 
necessary repairs.  He stated that Mr. Ballew had no problem releasing the retainage fee.

2. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield inquired about the amount.
3. City Manager David Jones read:   The Owner shall pay the Contractor no more than ninety 

percent (90%) of the total amount due under the Contract until fifty percent (50%) of the work 
required by the Contract has been performed.  Thereafter, the owner may pay any of the 
remaining installments without retaining additional funds if,  in the opinion of the Owner, 
satisfactory progress is being made in the work.   Upon final acceptance of the completed work, 
the Owner may publish a Notice of Completion of credit ors and other concerned. The ba lance 
of the funds retained shall be paid to the contractor within a reasonable time following the 
filing of a “Notice of Completion” or upon other proper evidence of s atisfactory completion of 
the Co ntract, unless the Labor Commissioner of the State of Nevada requires the Owner to 
withhold the funds pursuant to NRS 338.160.    He noted all of the work from Ruby Dome is 
completed and they are still waiting for electrical to be completed which is outside of the scope 
of this contract.  

4. Councilperson Bob  DeMars  moved for  approval   of  the final acceptance of the work 
performed by Ruby Dome Inc. on the Bulk Water Station located on Poplar Street in 
Carlin Nevada and release of the retainage in the amount of $3,368.84 , and all related 
matters.   Councilperson Lincoln  Litchfield   seconded  the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously.

IV. Review, discussion and possible approval of a recommendation to appoint Mr. Dennis  Fobes 
as the Chief of Police of the City of Carlin, and all related matters. (Possible Action Item)
1. City Manager David Jones  reported Chief Bauer has been a great asset to the community and 

will be followed by Dennis  Fobes  as the Carlin Police Chief.   He stated he wanted to attend the 
training in Henderson, Nevada presented by Northwestern University, but unfortunately the 
course has been cancelled.  He stated the original idea was that this training would be held 
within the next 4-5 months and explained  Mr   Fobes  has been online looking for this training. 
He noted in April there is actually going to be some training performed by the local post in 
Carson City, Nevada

2. Dennis  Fobes  reported  he had already signed up and when he finishes he would have his 
Management Post Certificate, noting it is a two-week course in April.  



Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

4

3. Chief Bauer reported he would be working with Mr.  Fobes  on budgets and other business items. 
He also explained the Northwestern training would still be vital to take at a later date.  He noted 
when Dennis Fobes feels he is “up to speed”, then I will be gone.

4. Councilperson Jay Duke stated he sat in on a meeting with the Resource Officer and he 
indicated there would be a possibility of mutual aid if needed.

5. Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner reported the first few months might be unnerving for him, but he has 
been with Carlin for a while and if he feels he is going to need it, the Council will figure it out. 

6. Chief Bauer reported that he has talked to leaders in the area and they are all willing to help, so 
he will have a good support network.

7. Councilperson Pam Griswold inquired if Mr.  Fobes  still felt confident without having the 
Northwestern training and opting for the two week course.

8. Mr.  Fobes  replied affirmatively.   He stated not having the training right away takes some of the 
“load” off.

9. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield moved for  approval of a recommendation to appoint 
Mr. Dennis  Fobes  as the Chief of Police of the City of Carlin, and all related matters.     
Councilperson Jay Duke seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously.

V. Review, discussion and possible approval for nominations and election of the Vice Mayor, 
Carlin City Code 1-5-1, and all related matters. Possible Action Item)
1. City Clerk LaDawn Lawson explained that the City Code allows the City Council to elect one 

of its members to be the vice president.  She noted this is without additional compensation, 
fulfils  the duties of the  M ayor during  their  absence,  acts  as the  Mayor until  the next municipal 
election if the office of the mayor becomes vacant.

2. Councilperson Pam Griswold stated she would like to hear from the current members  why they  
would like to be Vice Mayor and talk about their desires because she has been newly elected.

3. Councilperson Bob  DeMars  explained he has watched Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield at the 
Planning Board and the Council and have see n  him conduct himself professionally.  He stated 
his experience is an asset to the Council, noting that Councilperson Jay Duke is his second 
choice as he is very knowledgeable.  He stated he would his third choice and likes to have the 
challenge and would do the best he can.   

4. Councilperson Jay Duke reported that recently the training of POOL/PACT showed a couple of 
areas that really stand out;  one is “in search of civility” and that the Council is a collective, to 
act and achieve ultimate goals speaking with one voice.  He stated at the end of the day it 
should be one voice.  He stated he looks forward to 2015 and noted he does not have a choice, 
but thinks Councilperson Bob  DeMars  is probably equally  qualified  as Councilperson Lincoln 
Litchfield.  He stated everyone can do a better job with their research before coming to the 
Council meetings and hope to get information from other people.  He stated he does not have a 
favorite and noted that either Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield or Councilperson Bob  DeMars 
would be good.

5. Councilperson Li ncoln Litchfield stated he views  the Vice Mayor  position  as a very honorable 
seat,  but  on the other hand sitting on other boards  is not easy , the decisions  you make  are not 
always popular.  He stated they have to look at the city as a whole and whether it is good or bad 
when they make a decision.  He stated, “Hopefully my years on the planning board and this 
board have proven that”.

6. Councilperson Pam Griswold nominated Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield for Vice 
Mayor for his experience and she thinks he would do an excellent job.  

7. There were no other nominations.
8. Councilperson Bob DeMars seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously.

VI. Review, discussion and possible approval of the City Manager’s annual performance review, 
and all related matters. (Possible Action Item)



Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

5

1. Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner reported the overall evaluation of City Manager David Jones is a good 
one.   She stated he has done whatever has been asked of him and he is easy to get along with. 
She noted that he has done exceptionally well with the learning curve he was given by taking 
this position.  She commends him.

2. Councilperson Bob  DeMars  stated he has always been a firm believer that things happen for a 
reason.  He noted when City Manager David Jones ’  job was terminated  with Turner Gas  he was 
ready to take the job and it has been good for the city, because he has done a great job.   

3. Councilperson Jay Duke commented on the evaluation and that it will be done annually from 
now on.  He inquired about City Manager David Jones thoughts.  

4. City Manager David Jones stated that the job he stepped into is not an easy one with a huge 
learning curve from private to public sector, but feels he is up to the challenge and he enjoys 
the job.  He stated he looks forward to coming to work and  it is fun.  He stated he thinks it will 
take him a year to get up to speed.  He stated he has opted to seek training locally on fiscal 
matters in Elko and spoke with the Elko City Manager who is willing to work with him. 

5. Councilperson Jay Duke stated the information flow has been good.
6. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield stated he has worked with him on the Planning Commission 

and noted he is glad he is in that position.  
7. Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner stated she grades lower than others, but she does not believe anyone is 

ever perfect and you continue to get better as time goes on.  She stated she was pleased at how 
he took over, making the office staff comfortable and to watch how that interaction has worked 
is a plus for him.  She stated she knows he can do the job, but admits she was concerned about 
the budget because it is difficult to understand because it is different, but noted he has taken 
that on well.  She noted the next 4 years will be everyone learning together.  

8. City Manager David Jones stated he is not disappointed with scores.  He commended the 
“wonderful staff” that assists him.

9. County Commissioner  Cliff  Eklund  stated the Council went through a learning curve when they 
went through the hiring process.   He detailed the Council experience with two previous 
managers and noted that these matters came into play during the last interview process, which 
was difficult with some very capable people who applied.  He stated they already had David 
Jones on board as an interim who has lived in Carlin for a long time, who is smart, articulate 
and capable of learning the process.  He stated there were three people on the Committee who 
were not from Carlin to eliminate any charge of special favoritism.  He stated that board in their 
official vote named David Jones as he proved he was capable of doing the job.  He stated it is 
great to have a City Manager from Carlin who cares for the city.  He is making decisions based 
on City Code and not who you are.  He stated he was impressed with his work and experience; 
he would rather have someone who has good business experience than one who cannot get 
along with people.

10. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield moved  for   approval of the City Manager’s annual 
performance review, and all related matters.   Councilperson Pam Griswold seconded the 
motion.  The motion carried.  

VII. Review, discussion and possible approval of  the minutes for September  24, 2014 regular 
meeting, and October 8, 2014 and October 22, 2014 and all related matters.   (Possible Action 
Item)
1. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield   pointed out an error on page 5 in the motion concerning the 

amount noted and on page 8. 32 “a” should be removed.
2. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield  moved for  approval of  minutes for September  24 , 2014 

regular meeting  as corrected,   and all related matters.     Councilperson Jay  Duke    seconded 
the motion.  The motion carried  with Councilperson Bob  DeMars  and Councilperson Pam 
Griswold  abstaining, and Mayor Donnetta Skinner voting in favor.  

3. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield moved for  approval of  the minutes for  Oc t o ber  8 , 2014 
regular meeting ,  and all related matters.     Councilperson Jay Duke  seconded the motion. 



Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

6

The motion carried  with Councilperson Pam Griswold abstaining and Mayor  Donnetta 
Skinner voting in favor.

4. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield moved for  approval of  the minutes for  October 22  2014 
regular meeting ,  and all related matters.     Councilperson Jay Duke  seconded the motion.   
The motion carried  with  Councilperson Bob  DeMars  and Councilperson Pam  Griswold 
abstaining, and Mayor Donnetta Skinner voting in favor.

VIII. Review , discussion  and possible approval of payments for the periods  12/10/2014 to 1/14/2015 , 
and all related matters. (Possible Action Item)
1. Councilperson Pam Griswold inquired about two line items for Goicoechea and DiGrazia.
2. City Clerk LaDawn Lawson stated one is for water and sewer and the other is the general fund 

for specific work they did.  
3. Councilperson Jay Duke  moved for  ap proval of payments for the periods  12/10/2014 to 

1/14/2015 ,  and all related matters.  Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield   seconded the motion. 
The motion carried with Mayor Donnetta Skinner voting in favor.

IX. City Council Members’ Reports.
City Council Members report on issues, concerns and events regarding Public 
Safety, Public Works, Planning Commission, Parks & Recreation, Senior Center, 
Cemetery and other matters of interest
(Non-Action Item)

1. Councilperson Bob  DeMars   stated he had no report, waiting for the budget to be done  to see if 
the money is there for the repairs on the blade.

2. Councilperson Jay Duke  reported  on the Chamber of Commerce Business  After  Hours events 
in Elko and noted they are beneficial to Carlin as well .   He stated NNRDA would be discussing 
storefront renovation to make businesses more attractive.  He noted there is an event at the 
hospital on the 17 th  called Written in Stone, an opportunity to see the new oncology center; the 
next NNRDA meeting at GBC on the 28 th  at 1:00 p.m.  He stated the police are looking for a 
code enforcement animal control off icer and will be interviewing 7 applicants.  He stated he 
talked to /Shawn Sherwood at one of the school events and the officers will be dressed in the 
County green uniforms.  He stated he put his name in the hat for the Debt Commission.

3. Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield   reported there is a new member on the Planning Commission 
and the members are encouraged to study ahead of the meeting and bring their corrections to 
the meetings.  He discussed Title 3.  

4. Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner reported she was picked up by the police.   She reported she walked 
around the new development and was impressed by the silence, so she thought it was a 
wonderful place for new homes with the view.  She noted she wants anyone to tell her what 
they want done because they have to work together.   She stated, “We support each other 100%”. 
She presented the list of positions for the appointments for the Council members.

X. City Clerk’s Report. (Non – Action Item)
1. City Clerk LaDawn Lawson  reminded everyone they had to do their financial disclosure 

statements by January 15.

XI. City Manager’s Report (Non-Action Item)
1. City Manager David Jones stated they just held training by POOL/PACT and in February he 

would be out of town on and off for the next 11weeks for training in Carson City.  He stated he 
would miss a few Council meetings.  He stated they are still awaiting the firm doing the audit. 
He stated all of the auxiliary boards are now required to take ethics training, which they can do 
online. 

XII. Comments by the General Public: Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2C) this time is devoted to 



Carlin City Council
City of Carlin Meeting Minutes      January 14, 2015

7

comments by the general public and discussion to those comments. No action may be taken 
upon a matter raised under this item until the matter has been included on a successive 
agenda and identified as an action item. (Non-Action Item).
1. County  Commissioner Cliff   Eklund  stated   Cash Minor of the County is a good resource for the  

budgeting and would be willing to help.
2. Thomas Burney inquired if the City is doing anything for water due to the dry weather.
3. Public Works Director Carlos Esparza  stated  the City Engineer is working on a new location 

for another well.
4. Thomas Burney  stated  Mayor  Donnetta  Skinner did not ask for public comments  after each 

item.
5. Katie Bryant, Public Affairs Officer for Elko POW-MIA association and they are attending to 

support Dennis  Fobes  and the decision to elect him as Chief of Police.  She noted their meetings 
are held the 2 nd  and 4 th  Fridays and a Chili Feed will be held on February 14 at the ECVA 
beginning at 5:00 p.m. with a cost of $5.00 a person.

XIII.          Adjournment. (Action Item)  Councilperson Bob DeMars moved for adjournment with
         Councilperson Lincoln Litchfield seconding the motion.

The meeting was adjourned at 8:24.m.

APPROVED:

DONNETTA SKINNER, MAYOR

ATTEST:

_____________________________
CITY CLERK LADAWN LAWSON


